THE EFFECT OF NEPHRITIS ON OTHER BODY SYSTEMS OF THE CANINE

by

BAJRANG SINGH RATHORE

B. V. Sc. and A. H., University of Rajasthan, India, 1960

866

A MASTER'S REPORT

submitted in partial fulfillment of the

requirements for the degree

MASTER OF SCIENCE

Department of Surgery and Medicine

KANSAS STATE UNIVERSITY

Manhattan, Kansas

1965

Approved by:

Major Professor

+ 1 = 2 = 4 = 1

TABLE OF CONTENTS

2,2	Page
INTRODUCTION	1
THE EFFECT OF NEPHRITIS ON	5
Body as a Whole	5
Digestive System	8
Gardiovascular System	10
Nervous System	15
Musculoskeletal System	16
Hemic and Lymphatic System	19
Respiratory System	27
Integumentary System	28
Endocrine System	29
Body Fluids	31
Special Senses	36
SUMMARY	37
ACKNOWLEDGHENT	41
REFERENCES	42

INTRODUCTION

In general, diseases of the kidney can be classified into three distinct categories: degenerative (nephrosis), inflammatory (nephritis) and vascular (arteriosclerotic). The parenchymatous elements, comprising the glomeruli and tubules; the vascular elements, involving the arterioles and capillaries; and the interstitial elements, consisting of the stroma, can be involved separately or jointly. The most common renal inflammatory disease in man is glomerulonephritis, while interstitial nephritis is of minor significance. The terms hemorrhagic and parenchymatous nephritis often are used synonymously with glomerulonephritis. In the dog, interstitial nephritis is of paramount importance, whereas glomerulonephritis is not commonly found. Primary vascular lesions of the kidney are extremely rare in dogs. Eutyra and Marek mention acute and chronic nephritis, the former divided into parenchymatous and diffuse types, and the latter into the diffuse (parenchymatous, glomerulonephritis) and indurative (interstitial) forms.

Jacob (1924) believes that epithelial or tubular nephrosis and nephrocirrhosis occur most commonly. Müller and Glass (1926) classify nephritis as the acute and chronic forms. The chronic form is subdivided into the parenchymatous and interstitial types, and while no classification of the acute form is given, it is apparent from the pathological description, that the parenchymatous type is meant. Brumley (1931) divides acute nephritis into three groups, namely: parenchymatous, hemorrhagic parenchymatous, and diffuse, while the chronic form was classified the same as by Müller and Glass. McNider (1916) classified the renal lesions observed in forty-two naturally nephropathic dogs as chronic glomerulonephrits. However, it is

difficult to reconcile such a pathological diagnosis with the type of renal changes described. The lesions discussed would appear to be primarily interstitial.

Capable and experienced pathologists are universally in agreement that interstitial nephritis is the most common and important inflammatory renal disease in dogs, while glomerulonephritis rarely occurs.

To the physician, nephritis is a disease of considerable frequency and importance. To the veterinarian, nephritis in dogs is probably of equal, if not greater, significance. A perusal of the literature, both medical and veterinary, indicates that Bright's disease has been well studied, while interstitial nephritis, with few exceptions, has been only superficially examined. Nephritis is the most important and frequent among the affections observed in the urinary tract of the canine species. The importance of this condition lies in its frequent occurrence and its deleterious consequences on other body systems of the dog.

Historically, Hippocrates, the father of medicine, is credited to have observed nephritis in man for he commented on the bubbles in urine and correlated it with kidney disease. Rufus (100 A.D.); Aetius of Amida (502-575); Paul of Aegina (625-690); Rhazes (850-923); Avicenna (980-1037); and Williams of Saliceto (1269-1274) were all acquainted with chronic nephritis and described the anatomical changes that occurred. Bellini (1643-1704) stressed the importance of physical examination of urine in kidney disease.

Boehaave (1669-1738) included the chemistry of urine in his study of kidney disease. Fredrick Dekker (1648-1720) was the first to demonstrate albumin in urine by boiling it with a drop of acetic acid. Van Baptista

(1577-1644) made the first gravimetric examination of urine. In 1811 Charles read a paper in which he reported finding albumin in the urine in 78 cases of dropsy. Richard Bright (1789-1858) associated albuminuria with sclerosis and dropsy and made detailed clinical and post-mortem examinations of patients with nephritis. Henle (1841) and (1847) studied the histological details of kidneys.

The principal renal inflammatory disease of the dog is interstitial nephritis, which may be acute, subacute or chronic (Hoare, 1910; Mcfeydeyan, 1929; Bloom, 1939; Milks, 1944; Kirk, 1948; and Leonard, et al., 1953).

Interstitial nephritis was first described by Davis (1908) and subsequently Joest (1924); Nieberle and Cohrs (1931) reported on the frequent occurrence of this condition.

It is interesting to note that contrary to what other earlier and later authors have remarked, Saunders (1915) and Müller and Glass (1923) observed that diseases of the kidneys in the dog were relatively unimportant. On the other hand, Bloom (1939, 1954) mentioned that some degree of interstitial nephritis occurs in practically all dogs over 8 years of age and in approximately 50 percent of dogs of all ages in routine necropsies.

Leonard, et al. (1953) observed that "diseases affecting the urinary system in the dog, particularly those connected with kidney disturbances are among the most common ailments of dogs, especially in the older age group. Most old dogs will show some kidney damage in the normal course of living."

These views were shared by Hoare (1911); Dayton (1914), who found only one dog among 21 with normal kidneys; McNider (1916); Wright (1932); Institute of Animal Pathology (1940); Milks (1944); Frischbier (1949); Steel (1952); Runnels (1954); Smith (1955); and Zontine (1957).

Smith and Jones (1954) observed that "there are as many classifications of nephritis as there are writers on the subject." The etiological classification is divided into those due to infectious agents and those due to non-infectious agents. Among the infectious agents, bacteria are the most important. Organisms found associated with nephritis include - E. coli, Proteus vulgaris, streptococci, pseudomonas, Aerobactor aerogenes (Haines, 1945; Rollag, 1947; Bloom, 1954; Featherston, 1958; Mosier and Coles, 1958; and Coles and Mosier, 1959). Bacterial nephritis in addition to reducing functional renal tissue, may be conducive to the production of urolithiasis (Smith and Jones, 1954; Brodey, 1954). Nephritis, especially chronic nephritis, results in scarring. When the functional tissue is reduced, the vital functions including excretion of waste products, reabsorption of vital constituents, and formation of ammonia are seriously hampered. Scarring may result in hypertension in dogs (Hartman, et al., 1927). An imbalance in calcium and phosphorus excretion may give rise to hyperparathyroidism and attendant changes in the skeleton (Brown and Gainsburgh, 1939). Thus it is evident how vital the kidney is, that how the importance of the diseases of this organ cannot be overestimated and that one cannot overemphasize the necessity of diagnosis of nephropathies in their early stages. Unfortunately, our knowledge as to the genesis of nephritis or of the methods of diagnosis of such a condition is limited and fragmentary. Various tests have been devised to measure the function of different components of the nephron and to pinpoint the locus of damage in order that appropriate therapeutic measures could be taken. Such tests, though used and tried in man in various diseases, have had relatively limited trials in veterinary medicine.

A statistical approach to the study of any disease is of paramount importance to the clinician. Veterinary pathologists are almost in universal accord that renal inflammatory lesions occur with great frequency in the dog. Joest cites the following references: Porcher (1895) and Leblanc (1899). particularly emphasized the frequency of shrunken kidneys. Davis (1908). in autopsies of 145 dogs at the Bern Veterinary High School, found kidney changes in 27 percent. Siebel (1910) saw macroscopic kidney changes in 7 percent of the dog autopsies at the Berlin school. Of 250 dogs that the workers in the Stockholm school examined, not less than one-third showed macroscopic kidney changes, and microscopically only one-fourth were normal. This research was confirmed by Pfeiffer (1912), who found that it was difficult to obtain a completely normal kidney from the dog. Henschen reported the frequency of macroscopic inflammatory renal changes to be from 40 to 50 percent in pointers and Saint Bernards, 35 to 40 percent in terriers and Great Danes, and 21 to 32 percent in dogs of the setter, spitz, beagle, and dachshund breeds.

THE EFFECT OF NEPHRITIS ON:

Body as a Whole

The onset of acute interstitial nephritis is sudden and the patient is depressed. The appetite is poor or entirely lacking, but thirst is increased (polydipsia) and vomiting is frequent. Temperature elevation is moderate to high, depending on the stage at which the patient is seen. In severe cases the back is arched, the gait is stiff, and there is pain on palpation over the lumber and upper abdominal regions. Urine is usually scant. The pulse

is full and bounding, the mucous membranes are congested, and the coat and skin show evidence of dehydration.

The early stage of chronic interstitial nephritis is marked by increased thirst and sometimes increased hunger and emaciation. The dog may have vague digestive upsets with irregular episodes of vomiting and dyspepsia. The eyes have an anxious appearance, the coat is rough and the animal is dehydrated. There is an unthrifty and sometimes eczematous appearance to the skin. In later stages, diarrhea may be pronounced. The patient voids large amounts of pale, watery urine (polyuria) that has a low specific gravity.

Especially prominent signs of uremia are vomiting, low-normal to subnormal temperature, congestion of the conjunctiva, and altered attitude. The neurological symptoms usually range from depression, weakness, and drowsiness to a comatose state, although muscular twitchings of a fibrillary type sometimes occur. There is a fetid oral odor. Necrotic stomatitis or glossitis may leave well-defined ulcers in the mucosa. There may be a brownish discoloration of the tongue and teeth. Other symptoms sometimes observed are constipation or diarrhea (which may be bloody), secondary hypoplastic anemia, emaciation, and possibly eczema.

Dogs with a significant amount of chronic interstitial nephritis have attacks of uremia, which may be intermittent and often follow periods of excessive physical exercise or the consumption of excessive amounts of food that is high in protein. In these two circumstances, the kidney is presented with the task of eliminating an unusually large amount of protein break-down products. Whereas, normal kidneys have a sufficient overload capacity to take care of this need, the kidneys in chronic interstitial

nephritis may be unable to do so, and uremia results.

Urea was early implicated as the cause of uremia by Christison in 1829. The recent demonstration (Grollman and Grollman, 1959) that bilaterally nephrectomized dogs dialyzed by intermittent peritoneal lavage against high concentrations of urea developed weakness, anorexia, vomiting, hemorrhagic diarrhea, and coma after several days, despite a normal electrolyte composition of plasma, lends weight to this hypothesis.

Phenols, present in high concentrations in blood and spinal fluid, have been held responsible for uremic symptoms (Becher, 1933). Although phenol intoxication resembles some of the features of uremia (Mason et al., 1937), the evidence in favor of this hypothesis is tenuous.

In 1915 Foster reported the isolation of an organic base, apparently guanidine (Harrison et al., 1937), from the blood of uremic patients which, when injected into the peritoneal cavity of guinea pigs, caused rapid respiration, convulsions, and ultimately death.

Harrison and his co-workers (1936, 1937) and subsequently others

(Andes et al., 1937) demonstrated increased concentrations of a guanidinelike material in blood and spinal fluid of experimentally uremic dogs and
clinically uremic patients. Guanidine, injected into experimental animals,
produces muscle twitching, hyperexcitability, paresis, and convulsions, as
well as hemorrhagic bowel lesions. Experimentally, therefore, guanidine
can produce some of the features of the uremic syndrome.

In uremia, two groups of clinical symptoms are present. First, symptoms referable to deranged renal excretory and regulatory function, characteristic of renal failure, are prominent. Secondarily, a unique constellation of gastrointestinal, cardiovascular and neuromuscular disturbances develops

which are independent of, though often similar to, concomitant disturbances caused by electrolyte abnormalities, hypertension, and hematologic disorders such as anemia.

Digestive System

The occurrence of gastrointestinal lesions in uremia has long been recognized, but the comprehensive study of a large series of cases was not reported until the work of Jaffe and Laing appeared in 1934.

Anorexia, nausea and vomiting are common in uremia, and occasionally constitute the first symptoms of renal disease.

Though patients in uremia may have little or no free hydrochloric acid in gastric juice, this is not necessarily a result of a failure in hydrochloric acid production. Rather, it develops because of the increased formation in gastric juice of ammonia which then neutralizes gastric acidity. Accelerated ammonia production, in turn, has been attributed to the high levels of blood urea which elevate the concentration of urea in gastric juices where it is hydrolyzed, under the influence of urease, to ammonia (Lieber and Lefevre, 1959). The hydrolysis of urea to ammonia is probably responsible for the ammoniacal taste and odor in uremia.

Although constipation is more common, diarrhea, often bloody, tends to appear in the later stages of renal failure. It causes severe depletion in extracellular volume as well as potassium deficiency. Anemia is often greatly aggravated. It should be borne in mind that bleeding originates anywhere in the gastrointestinal tract. The colon, stomach and duodenum are frequent sites. Bleeding usually occurs from ulcers of the mucosa, although at times only ill-defined mucosal hemorrhages are observed.

Mucosal ulcerations also occur in the mouth. The ulcers may be small and punctate on the gums, but can attain large size particularly on the lips and at the corners of the mouth. Salivation may be increased as ulcers develop.

Marked abdominal pain, sometimes with generalized tenderness, develops especially in those patients with severe vomiting and diarrhea. The pain may be associated with ulcerative lesions.

The cause of the gastrointestinal disorders is not clear. Anorexia, nausea, and vomiting have been attributed to central nervous system disturbances. Ulcerative lesions may be responsible for diarrhea and perhaps to some extent vomiting as well. They have also been thought to result from the high ammonia content brought about by the action of bacterial flora on urea which is excreted vicariously by the digestive tract in uremia.

Streicher in 1928 was able to produce marked gastroenteritis in dogs with one or both kidneys functioning by the intravenous administration of 10 percent and 20 percent urea solutions, 200 cc. daily, given slowly by drip method for three days. A syndrome resembling uremia developed progressively during the urea administration, terminating with convulsions, bloody diarrhea, coma and death after 500 to 600 cc. of urea solution had been injected. Autopsies performed on all animals revealed injection and hyperemia of the entire gastrointestinal tract, but no necrosis or ulceration was described. Histologic examination of tissues was reported as revealing gastrointestinal inflammation. Photographic illustrations of the enteritis, which was described as congestion of the mucosa, was later interpreted by Jaffe as appearing hemorrhagic rather than congested.

Bollmann and Mann in 1927 studied the nitrogenous constituent of the blood in dogs following transplantation of ureters into different levels of the intestine, and observed marked elevation in blood urea without an increase in other nitrogenous substances in those animals having no evidence of uremia until the terminal one to two days, preceding which the blood urea levels decreased considerably. Necropsy of the dogs revealed hemorrhagic lesions in the stomach similar to those found in cases of uremia. No pseudomembranous or ulcerative lesions were found. In a discussion of the work Mench stated that these experiments afforded additional evidence that urea is a practically nontoxic substance, and expressed the opinion that, in the presence of such an intense "local uremia" as should be existent in the intestinal mucosa under the conditions of these experiments, one would expect the development of lesions in the gastrointestinal tract sooner than anywhere else.

Cardiovascular System

Various adverse influences. When uremia supervenes in chronic renal disease, hypertension and left ventricular hypertrophy usually are already present and show the strain to which the left ventricle is subjected. In acute renal disease, hypertension and uremia may evolve concomitantly, or either may precede the other. The heart may also be affected by anemia, coronary disease, myocarditis correlated with infection producing or complicating the renal disease and myocarditis subjacent to uremic pericarditis.

Pericarditis occurs in the terminal stages, indicating almost invariably that the dog will soon expire. This uremic lesion is common in man and

occasionally in dogs terminating the course of chronic nephritis (Smith and Jones). Uremic pericarditis may produce the usual pericarditic changes in the tracing.

The pathogenesis of uremic pericarditis has been much discussed. The suggestion has been ventured that dehydration may produce pericardial cell damage by diminishing the fluid needed for lubrication of the constantly moving surfaces. But this explanation is difficult to reconcile with the frequent development of pericardial effusion.

In a majority of uremic cases heart failure sooner or later supervenes.

Paroxysms of cardiac asthma and pulmonary edema due to left ventricular failure are common. In most uremic cases, congestive heart failure ultimately develops, with passive engorgement of both the greater and lesser circulations. Pulmonary edema is usually a terminal or terminating manifestation.

The heart failure of uremia is probably most often due to a combination of the factors listed above, as well as to the effect on myocardial function of the changes in the chemical composition of the blood resulting from renal insufficiency.

In the many studies undertaken during the past two decades with view to the better understanding of the pathogenesis of hypertension in man, the dog has been widely used as the experimental animal. Goldblatt and his collaborators (Goldblatt, Lynch, Hanzal and Summerville, 1934; Goldblatt, 1937, 1938, 1946; Goldblatt, Gross and Hanzal, 1937), Winternitz Mylon, Waters and Katzenstein, 1939, 1940) and Muirhead, Vanatta and Grollman (1949) have all studied various aspects of induced hypertension, while Holman (1941, 1943, 1947), Folman and Hewitt (1942), Holman and Swanton (1946) and McCormick and Holman (1949) have directed attention to the necrotising

cardiovascular changes which frequently accompany experimental acute renal insufficiency in dogs. Comparatively little attention, however, has been given to the structural alterations in the cardiovascular system that arise in the course of the naturally occurring nephritides of dogs.

H. Platt (1952) studied the effects of acute and chronic nephritis
upon the structure of the cardiovascular system in 8 dogs with acute and
24 with chronic nephritis. The changes observed were of two main types:
(1) those due to hypertension, seen only in dogs with chronic nephritis;
(2) necrotising lesions in the heart and great vessels, mainly in dogs with acute nephritis, and scars at these same sites in dogs with chronic nephritis.

Cardiac hypertrophy was present in 6 out of 16 dogs with chronic nephritis and the LV:RV ratio was higher in chronic nephritis cases generally than in normal dogs.

Fibrinoid lesions occurred in the glomeruli, and sometimes in the renal and other arterioles as well, in 15 out of 22 dogs with chronic nephritis.

These lesions were not found with acute nephritis.

Acute necrotising lesions were found in 5 out of 8 cases of acute nephritis; the left auricle, aorta and pulmonary artery were the principal affected sites. These lesions were found in only 1 out of 24 dogs with chronic nephritis. Scars were present at these sites in 8 out of the 24 chronic nephritic animals.

H. Platt concluded that hypertension is an important feature of chronic nephritis in the dog, and that the necrotising cardiovascular lesions seen in acute nephritis are probably not of hypertensive origin, but are identical with those occurring in experimental renal failure in the dog. In dogs surviving the acute stage of nephritis, the necrotising lesions undergo

healing and scarring. He could not explain the cause for these necrotic lesions.

Chrug and Lehr (1954) described lesions in the smooth muscle of the acrta, gastrointestinal tract and the myocardium in rats in which severe nephropathy was produced by the injection of poorly soluble sulfonamide compounds. The muscle fibers underwent hydropic degeneration, followed by fragmentation. An intense inflammatory reaction occurred, the exudate consisting of polymorphs. Calcium was deposited where degeneration occurred.

Sporri, et al. (1961) studied blood pressure in 14 dogs with chronic nephritis. In those without uremia, systolic and diastolic pressure was normal. In those with uremia, systolic pressure was high but within normal limits; diastolic pressure was up to 20 mm. mercury above normal. Blood pressure in dogs with kidney diseases was considered to be less conclusive than in human patients and it appeared unjustified to attribute the cardiac hypertrophy, present in chronic nephritis, solely to increased blood pressure.

Wood and White (1925) reported that in certain cases of uremia and severe nephritis with an increased blood nitrogen there is a toxic effect acting in some respects like digitalis on the heart muscle. It may produce abnormal electrocardiogram changes in T wave of Lead II, less often abnormal rhythm, and rarely an increase in the auriculo-ventricular conduction interval or in the duration of the QRS complex.

Pathological, metabolic and organic changes which cause an alteration in the electrolyte levels in the serum will frequently result in the presentation of an abnormal electrocardiogram. The ions usually affected by these changes are potassium, sodium, and the chlorides. These ions have as one of their functions the regulation of the heart beat and the heart rate.

The heart is bathed in a solution of these ions (Best and Taylor, Birch and Winsor) and they play a part in the transmission of the waves involved in depolarization and repolarization to the electrodes of the electrocardiogram. Any change in their concentration may manifest itself by a corresponding change being recorded on the tracing.

In nephritis or nephrosis, and especially in uremia, the serumelectrolyte balance is altered, due to abnormal filtration by the glomeruli or imparied function of the tubules. The electrocardiogram changes seen are usually produced by a potassemia (hyperkalemia). Potassium retention or a rise of the potassium level in the serum usually occurs along with an upset in the sodium and/or chloride levels in the serum during the course of the nephritis, nephrosis, or uremia.

One of the functions of potassium is its association with acetyl choline at the myoneural junction; the presence of potassium is necessary for impulse conduction and muscular contraction of the heart.

The earliest report of potassium poisoning in nephritis is that by W. G. Smillie in 1915. In potassemia, the conduction of the impulse is depressed so that some degree of bradycardia, or slowing of the heart rate, may be evidenced. The T waves are of long duration and a resulting increase in the Q-T interval occurs. An increase in the Q-T interval associated with clinical evidence is indicative of electrolyte imbalance with potassium retention. The Q-T interval in well-developed cases of renal damage is usually over 0.22 seconds (Soave, 1954). Iannek (1949), in his study of electrocardiograms in dogs with nephritis, found Q-T intervals of over 0.20 seconds.

Finch and Marchand (1943) observed the following symptoms in experimental poisoning induced by severe acute nephritis: (1) an acute uremia with oliguria; (2) recurrent nausea and retching; (3) episodes of bradycardia unaccompanied by symptoms of cardiac failure; (4) electrocardiographic changes including elevated T waves, absent P waves, intraventricular block, and terminal irregularity of rhythm; (5) arrest of the heart in diastole prior to the cessation of respiration.

Winkler, Hoff and Smith (1938, 1942) showed that in dogs a slow increase of the serum potassium from normal levels of 4 to 5 m. eq./1., to 14 or 16 was accompanied by a progressive elevation of the T waves, depression of the S-T segment, intraventricular block, loss of P waves, and finally cardiac arrest.

Subsequent studies demonstrated spontaneous potassium poisoning regularly in surgically anuric dogs (Winkler, Hoff and Smith, 1941) and occasionally in adrenalectomized dogs as suggested by the work of Nicholson and Soffer in 1935.

Wood and Moe (1942) found in heart-lung preparations from dogs that atrial and ventricular arrest occurred at average plasma potassium concentration of 8.5 and 9.5 m. eq./l., respectively.

Nervous System

The first nervous symptoms of uremia caused by nephritis are often those of muscular weakness and torpor (Fishberg, 1954).

Symptoms such as headache are not easily evaluated in animals; nervous hyperirritability, including convulsions in dogs, is usually ascribed to the lowering of calcium, although the status of the magnesium level would bear investigation in this regard. The cerebral edema which is common in humans

seldom accompanies uremia in the domestic animals (Smith and Jones. 1958).

The neurological symptoms usually range from depression, weakness, and drowsiness to a comatose state, although muscular twitchings of a fibrillary type sometimes occur (Canine Medicine, 1962).

Muscular twitching and, far less frequently, convulsions, are thought by some clinicians to be caused by a decrease in the ionized calcium of blood due to renal retention of phosphate. But the relation of symptoms to plasma calcium is tenuous, and it has been suggested that the defect in calcium is in the nervous system itself. Observations in nephrectomized dogs indicate that the onset of twitching is more closely related to increased inorganic phosphate in cerebrospinal fluid than to the increase in plasma. The ionized calcium of the cerebrospinal fluid is often significantly lowered (3 mg. per 100 ml. as compared to normal 4.3 with a rise in inorganic phosphate from 1.3 to 2.7 mg. per 100 ml.).

Musculoskeletal System

In the dog, renal failure and uremia usually results from chronic nephritis. In such patients the urine volume is usually large until shortly before death. Hyperkalemia is not so significant as in acute renal failure. Indeed, the mechanism of potassium excretion, inadequately balanced by concurrent hydrogen ion formation, may be so active as to cause potassium clearance to rise to levels well above filtration rate so that there ensues an actual depletion of plasma potassium with resultant weakness and paresis of skeletal muscles. Such cases, however, are less common than those in which, as in acute renal failure, terminal potassium intoxication results from failure of urine flow (Sodeman, 1963).

Muscular twitching and, far less usually, convulsions, are thought by some clinicians to be caused by a decrease in the ionized calcium of blood due to renal retention of phosphate (Smith and Jones, 1958). Intravenous administration of calcium tends to relieve twitching, and oral dosage with aluminium hydroxide tends to relieve the defect in ionizable calcium and some of the acidosis by causing fecal excretion of insoluble aluminium phosphate (Sodeman, 1963).

The defect in calcium metabolism extends much further and reaches earlier into the course of renal failure. The tendency toward depression of ionized calcium acts as a stimulus for parathyroid hyperplasia, which is manifested functionally and structurally. Functionally, it results in decalcification which leads to the disease entity known as renal osteodystrophy (rubber jaw), which is primarily a nephritic condition with bone lesions, particularly of the skull, appearing later (Hogg, 1948). If the condition occurs in young individuals before full growth is reached, it is called renal rickets, or renal dwarfism (Howard, 1938; Mitchell, 1930). The primary lesion responsible for the syndrome can be congenital cystic kidneys, bilateral hydronephrosis, or a long-standing severe nephritis. These lesions will result in impaired kidney function, which causes retention of phosphates in the blood stream and an elevation of the serum phosphorus level (normal level is 2-4 mg./100 cc. of blood). Some of the excess phosphates are excreted into the intestinal lumen where they combine with the available calcium, forming calcium phosphate, an insoluble precipitate. This reaction, therefore, results in a decreased calcium absorption from the intestine and thus a hypocalcemia (normal serum calcium level is 9-11 mg./100 cc. of blood). The parathyroid glands respond to

this hypocalcemia by undergoing hyperplasia and thus producing excess parathormone. Parathyroid hyperplasia has been shown experimentally by Drake, Albright and Castleman (1937). They used repeated injections of a neutral, isotonic sodium phosphate in rabbits and produced a secondary parathyroid hyperplasia. Pappenheimer and Wilens (1935) found a 50 percent weight increase of the parathyroid gland in 21 patients with nephritis. Castleman and Mallory (1937) reported on the histopathology of the parathyroid hyperplasia encountered in 29 cases of chronic renal insufficiency in man. The parathyroid hyperplasia, together with the acidosis, which often is associated with the kidney dysfunction, will cause osteomalacia by mobilization of calcium and phosphorus from the skeleton in an effort to maintain a normal serum calcium, with formation of soft, rubbery bone (Nielsen, et al., 1954; Brodey, et al., 1961). Metastatic calcification will be present in different organs -- kidney, stomach-wall, and the large arteries (Brown and Ginsbury, 1940; Nielsen, et al., 1954; Kretzschmar, 1956).

In the dog, the clinical signs of bone resorption are confined to the jaws and the head, and thus the term "rubber jaw" is often ascribed to this disease by clinicians. Actually, there is generalized osteoporosis of all the long bones on histopathological examination. Platt (1952) states that histological evidence of bone resorption is present in most cases of chronic nephritis in the dog. It is only in a very few cases that clinical "rubber jaw" is observed (Brodey, 1954). A review of the literature (Coffin, 1953; Davis, 1936; Gratzl, 1941; Hogg, 1948; Nieberle and Cohrs, 1949; Platt, 1952) reveals that chronic nephritis associated with the above changes is not an infrequent occurrence in the dog.

Gratzl (1941) reported that 6 dogs, 5 to 13 years old, with chronic nephritis (usually following leptospirosis) showed loosening of the teeth

and softening of the jaw bone. Radiographs revealed marked osteoporosis and decalcification. Histological examination of one case showed osteodystrophia fibrosa which was hyposteotic in type (compared with hyperosteotic type in which there is an increase in size of affected bones due to deposition of osteoid tissue).

Gratzl suggested that the syndrome in the dog develops from lowering of the alkali reserve of the blood and acidosis leading to withdrawal of calcium from the bones to keep up the level of blood calcium. The osteoporosis which results is later followed by osteodystrophia fibrosa.

Dammrich (1958) examined bones in 39 dogs with nephritis. Changes were found in the ribs and head bones, and less often in the scapula. The ribs could be bent more easily, and the compacta was more porous. The head bones to be affected first were the jaws, followed by the nasal, frontal and temporal bones. These showed porosity, increasing rarefaction and lower specific gravity. Bending of the bones (rubber jaw) occurred in seven cases. Metastatic calcification was found in the kidneys, trachea, epiglottis, endocardium, larynx and aorta in 16 of the 39 dogs. The kidneys showed macroscopically interstitial nephritis, with or without contraction. In all cases with this osteo-renal syndrome and in cases with nephritis without bone changes, the parathyroids were enlarged, 1-1/2 to 10 times. The enlargement is interpreted as parathyroid hyperplasia and hypertrophy secondary to renal change.

Hemic and Lymphatic System

The association of anemia with renal diseases has long been recognized (Hamelin, 1904; Hunter, 1888; Quinke, 1880; Widal, Abrami and Brule, 1907),

and various causes for the anemia have been suggested. A hemolytic process has been postulated by some (Hamelin, 1904; Hunter, 1888; Quinke, 1880), but denied by others (Bingold, 1933; Ceconi, 1905; Holler, 1926; Piney, 1932). Other factors which have been considered include the inhibitory effect of urinary poisons (Ceconi, 1905) and protein deficiency related to proteinuria or dietary inadequacy (Ashe, 1929; Grignani, 1921). Protein deficiency as a cause is not accepted by certain authors (Brown and Roth, 1922) and it has been pointed out that in pure lipoid nephrosis, in which proteinuria is prominent, anemia is rare unless renal insufficiency supervenes (Bannick, 1934; Wilber and Brown, 1930) as a complication. Furthermore, the diets of patients with renal diseases are not usually deficient in protein unless the patients are too ill to eat (Aubertin, 1924; Griva and Asinelli, 1932).

Brown and Roth (1922) showed that there is no relationship between hematuria and anemia. They considered defective blood formation to be an important factor in the production of anemia. It was felt that an unknown toxic substance was responsible for the deficient red cell production.

Ceconi (1905), as well as others (Grignani, 1921; Nylander, 1935) considered toxic injury to the bone marrow as the basis for the anemia. Whitby and Britton (1946) stated that when there is much edema in nephritis, the anemia is often due to a disturbance of water balance, Nylander (1935) discussed selective damage to the bone marrow involving erythropoiesis, while leaving myelopoiesis intact.

Widal, Abrami and Brule (1907) examined one case and found a very active bone marrow they described as aplastic. Others (Aubertin, Yacoel, 1924 and Scarlett, 1929) also found the bone marrow replaced by fat tissue or revealing no evidence of increased marrow activity. These studies have

been criticized (Rohr, 1940; Rohr and Hafter, 1937) because of the autolysis that occurs to bone marrow tissue obtained at autopsy.

Nordenson (1938) used Arinkin's method of staining the bone marrow. An "incipient aplasia" of the erythroid tissue with a myeloid-erythroid ratio of 8 to 1 was described. Similar findings were described (Custer, 1941; Kracke, 1941) except for the presence of a normal cellular or hypercellular bone marrow. Contradictory results were reported by Giacchero and Belletti (1941) who found an increased number of normoblasts. Isaacs (1937) mentioned that the bone marrow at first suggested invasion by lymphoblastoma cells. The peripheral blood demonstrated an alteration in the red cell diameter prior to the onset of gross kidney dysfunction.

An increase in polychromatic and basophilic normoblasts with, however, a reduction of mature erythroblasts was found in 38 patients with "nephrogenic anemia" (Arinkin, 1929). Dameshek (1935) and others (DeWeerdt, 1939; Parsons and Ekolastrolberg, 1933; Young and Osgood, 1935) suggested the bone marrow revealed a distinct hypoplasia of erythropoietic tissue. The etiology of this anemia was said to bear a direct relationship to the degree of nitrogen retention, whatever the cause (Parsons and Ekolastrolberg, 1933).

Others (Läninger, 1938; Scott, 1939) noted decreased cellularity with an increased relative number of normoblasts. Reduced erythropoietic tissue without hyperactivity either erythroid or myeloid cells has been described (DeWeerdt, 1939; Loeper and Perreau, 1939; Michelazzi and DeRenzi, 1937). Vogel, Erf and Rosenthal (1937) and Falzoi (1939) noted a shift to the right in myelopoiesis of the bone marrow.

Gingold, Comsa and Roman-Crivat (1938) found the bone marrow to be unable to retain normoblasts and terminally to become aregenerative.

As the kidney lesions became progressively severe, erythropoietic aplasia became more pronounced (Faärup and Ohlsen, 1941; Nolli, 1939). Fieschi (1938) and Büchmann and Stodtmeister (1943) observed cases of chronic nephritis with uremia in which the bone marrow revealed hyperplasia of the granulocytic cells and marked reduction in the erythroblastic elements. Stem cell involvement in the bone marrow was thought to be the cause.

Leitner (1945) in 11 patients with nephrogenic anemia, found a decrease in normoblasts in the sternal marrow in all but 3 instances. The marrow findings in the latter cases were observed after improvement in the uremic state. In general, there was an absence of the younger forms of the erythroblastic series and a decrease in the number of erythroid mitoses. summary. Leitner states that the sternal marrow in nephrogenic anemia shows a hypoplasia and occasionally an aplasia of erythropoiesis. The granulocytes were intact, aside from a slight neutrophillic metamyelocyte and myelocyte shift to the left. The same was true of the megakaryocytic series. In a few cases, eosinophils and plasma cells were seen which might indicate an allergic reaction. With improvement in the kidney lesions and decrease in nitrogen retention, the anemia improved. This, according to Leitner, indicates an aregenerative type of anemia and not an aplastic anemia. In progressive chronic nephritis, the sternal marrow shows progressive aplasia of the erythroblastic picture. The response of the anemia to iron, liver, and arsenic is observed only after improvement of the kidney function. The sternal marrow, therefore, permits the estimation of the tendency towards regeneration or aplasia.

Rohr (1940), Kienle (1942, 1943), Thaddea (1943) and Filo (1937), in their studies of chronic nephritis with anemia, found hypoplasia of the

erythroblastic cells which may be due to a primary toxin or a decrease of the primitive erythroblasts. Thaddea (1943) and Gottsegen (1937) noted that the neutrophilic metamyelocytes and mature granulocytes are always numerous, frequently with a hypersegmentation of the nucleus, whereas the lymphocytes are markedly decreased in the end-stage of uremia. Because of the hypoplastic and aplastic character of the erythroblastic tissue, there is no effect from treatment with iron and liver. Nephrogenic anemia is considered to be a toxic aregenerative anemia in which the influence of the toxic substance is either on formation or maturation of the erythroid tissue in the bone marrow. Vaughan (1936) stated that the pathologic changes of hemopoietic tissues in nephritis are not known in detail. But there is no evidence to suggest any great hyperplasia of erythropoietic tissue. Magner (1938) stated that the anemia occurs regularly in cases of renal insufficiency and nitrogen retention, regardless of the nature of the renal lesions, and that the degree of anemia is usually proportional to the degree of impairment of excretory function of the kidney. This dyshemopoietic type of anemia is due to a deficient production of red blood cells and not to excessive loss of red blood cells by hemorrhage or hemolysis.

Alexeieff (1937) studied renal diseases in patients and experimental uremia in dogs. He concluded that (1) anemia of nephritic patients is a true anemia due to intoxication of the bone marrow by nitrogenous products. The degree of this anemia is found to correspond not to the azotemia of the blood but rather to the duration of the disease. The study of the bone marrow reveals a feeble regeneration of normoblastic type which characterizes an hemopoietic anemia. (2) The leukocytosis which is observed in nephritic patients, just as in patients poisoned by mercury bichloride, is due to a

pronounced regeneration of the myeloid tissue. (3) The number of blood platelets and of megakaryocytes in the bone marrow do not show great modifications. Hemorrhagic symptoms that are observed are not dependent on thrombopenia. (4) The bone marrow cannot be considered as a depot of nonprotein nitrogenous products. (5) Fluctuations in the nonprotein nitrogen content of the blood and bone marrow are roughly parallel.

Wintrobe (1934) drew attention to the similarity of the blood picture in the enemias of nephritis, aplasia of the bone marrow and the anemia which he found in various inflammatory diseases. All were normocytic or microcytic but in none was there a marked hypochromia.

Murphy, Grill and Moxon (1934) stated that in acute nephritis a red cell count below 3.5 millions per cu. mm. implies progressive breakdown of renal function. MacArthur (1942) noted that in chronic hemorrhagic nephritis there is often a severe orthochromic normocytic anemia with a normal or slightly increased number of reticulocytes and mild leukocytosis. The blood was not that of aplastic anemia.

Boyd (1944) stated that the anemia in glomerulonephritis seems to be due to interference with the building up of hemoglobin in the liver, rather than to lack of formation of red cells in the bone marrow. An important factor is diminution or absence of hydrochloric acid in the stomach which interferes with the proper metabolism of ingested food and absorption of iron. Haden (1946) took the viewpoint that anemia of kidney disease is due to a toxic action of retained metabolic products on the marrow. Fowler (1949) shared the opinion of others that the anemia of chronic nephritis is probably due to a toxic depression of the bone marrow as there are but slight evidences of blood degeneration.

Bone marrow studies in chronic nephritis show a tendency for hematopolesis to be arrested in the erythroblastic stage; hence, the anemia is due to diminished blood production. Castle and Minot (1936), in discussing the anemia of chronic nitrogen retention, concluded that the anemia is due to diminished blood production since there are few signs of regeneration of the red blood cells. They agreed with others that the anemia is due to depressed activity of the hemopoietic tissues. leukocytes are not always depressed and platelets usually are normal in number. With infection, the leukocytes show a shift towards immaturity of the neutrophils. On the other hand, Schilling (1929) stated that there is no significant alteration in uncomplicated cases of chronic nephritis. Sturgis (1948) accepted the theory that the anemia results from a depressed hemopoietic activity of the red blood cells, forming elements in the bone marrow which in some unknown manner is secondary to severe impairment of renal function. Sturgis did not favor the suggestion of Townsend, Massie and Lyons (1937) that the diminished hydrochloric acid plays any major role in the production of the anemia, although it may contribute to it.

Loge, et al. (1950) concluded that blood loss by hemolysis may be partly responsible for the anemia of chronic renal insufficiency, but the prominent mechanism is an invariable depression of erythropoiesis associated at times with an extracorpuscular hemolytic factor.

Anemia is frequently noticed in uremic states and there appears to be a direct parallel between the severity of anemia and nitrogen retention (Callen, and Limarji, 1950). The anemia observed in nephritis is usually normocytic, normochromic but may at times be microcytic and hypochromic (Callen and Limarji, 1950).

It is not clear how anemia is caused in nephritis. Townsend, Massie and Lyons (1937) revealed that due to the impairment of excretion in chronic nephritis, acidosis resulted. This in turn decreased gastric secretion with resultant hypochlorhydria. In this condition iron is not absorbed and anemia results.

Whipple and Robscheit-Robins (1939) found that in early nephritis hemoglobin production in the dog was approximately 85 percent of normal and in more advanced nephritis 70 percent of normal.

Fouts, Corcoran and Page (1941) remarked that in nephrotoxic nephritis in dogs anemia resulted due to the depression of the activity of bone marrow. This was later corroborated by Loge, Lange and Moore (1950) who found that erythropoiesis was depressed in chronic renal insufficiency.

McManus (1951) contended that microcytic hypochromic anemia in chronic renal condition was a result of the toxic action of accumulated phenols on the bone marrow.

DeWardener (1958) reported that the depression of bone marrow (resulting in anemia) was directly proportional, though not necessarily caused by, the rise in blood urea.

The lack of correlation between symptoms and degree of renal impairment was well demonstrated by the findings of Newburg and Camara (1951) who noticed severe anemia in early nephritis and a low degree of anemia in severe nephritis.

Bonani (1959) reported that in 30 dogs with chronic nephritis there was a marked increase in the hemoglobin content and color index, a slight increase in white blood cells and a decrease in red blood corpuscles.

Respiratory System

Paroxysmal dyspnea (cardiac asthma) may occur as a result of the hypertension present in uremia. Cheyne-Stokes or irregular periodic breathing is common in the terminal stages. These respiratory difficulties have nothing in common with true bronchial asthma. The old terms renal asthma and uremic asthma are misleading and should be dropped, for there is no evidence that uremic intoxication actually causes bronchospasm (Fishberg, 1954).

In far-advanced uremia, especially in chronic renal disease, remarkable pulmonary changes develop (Bass, et al., 1952). They occur in the presence of both left ventricular failure and uremia. Rouhier and Plauchu (1934) pointed out that roentgenologically the pulmonary lesions of advanced uremia generally present themselves as cloudy shadows confined to or most prominent in the inner zones of the lung fields.

Myerson (1927) has observed a peculiar grayish, dough-like coating in the hypopharynx, larynx, bronchi and trachea of eleven patients with uremia.

In patients of any species, a wrine-like odor is often present and is diagnostic (Smith and Jones, 1958).

In 16 dogs with uremia caused by nephritis, the most frequent lung changes were pulmonary edema, catarrhal purulent bronchitis and interstitial thickening. In 2 cases fibrin network was observed, and in 2 others pseudo-hyaline membranes had formed in the alveoli (Schiefer, 1960).

As a result of anemia caused by nephritis, a deficiency of hemoglobin per unit volume of blood occurs which in turn give rise to what is known as anemic anoxia (Blood and Henderson, 1963).

The respiratory mechanism is exquisitely sensitive to changes in pH of blood. The slightest reduction in plasma bicarbonate through its decomposition by acid is met by increased pulmonary ventilation in which condition excessive amounts of carbon dioxide are removed from the body by forced breathing. Thus, the acidosis of renal insufficiency results in dyspnea.

Integumentary System

The body coat is rough and dry. The dryness of the skin may be very striking in long-standing chronic interstitial nephritis; it is the cutaneous manifestation of dehydration resulting from compensatory polyurea.

Pruritus may sometimes appear. Scratch marks may result. The pathogenesis of the pruritus is not entirely clear. The pruritus is not due solely to the dryness of the skin, though this may contribute (Fishberg, 1954). It has been suggested that this is due to liberation of ammonia from the action of cutaneous bacterial ureases on the urea of sweat (Sodeman, 1961).

There is an unthrifty and sometimes eczematous appearance to the skin (Canine Medicine, 1962).

Eczematous skin conditions have been observed in the course of various chronic organic diseases. In chronic interstitial nephritis in dogs, squamous, crusted dermatoses may develop bilaterally and symmetrically in the back region. In these cases there is a partial loss of hair; the skin itself is dry, thickened, and forms large folds. Some itchy conditions of the lower parts of the extremities have been associated with mild nephritis (Kral, 1961).

Endocrine System

Primary hyperparathyroidism is more of theoretical than of practical interest to the veterinary pathologist. It may arise as a result of adenomatous or carcinomatous change in the gland, but these neoplastic changes are rare and skeletal complications even more so. Secondary hyperparathyroidism is, however, rather common, especially in dogs, as a result of renal insufficiency; a few such cases are complicated by osteodystrophy of obvious degree, and a larger number have lesser degrees of change in the bones.

The hormone of the parathyroid glands has two main functions; it causes phosphate diuresis and it causes the levels of calcium in the blood to rise. These functions are to be regarded as separate but inseparable; separate because they represent distinct functions at different loci of activity, and inseparable because any dysfunction at one or other locus or any primary alteration in levels of calcium or phosphorus in plasma has secondary effects on the other locus or the other ion.

The parathyroid glands are sensitive to changes in the level of ionized calcium in the serum, and this is probably the basis of their principal homeostatic function. Any change which tends to lower serum calcium causes thereby an increase in activity of the parathyroids in an attempt to restore levels of serum calcium to normal. The calcium-deficient diets which lead to rickets will, if severe enough, cause secondary hyperparathyroidism to complicate the picture. Parathyroid hyperplasia is also a result of excessively high levels of phosphorus in the diet, but whether by causing fecal wastage of calcium or by a tendency to hyperphosphatemia is not clear.

That sustained increments of the level of serum phosphate can cause hyperplasia (and hyperfunction) of the parathyroids is accepted as the principal metabolic defect in this system in renal failure (Brodey, et al., 1961; Dammrich, 1958; Kretzschmar, 1956; Nielsen, et al., 1954; Platt, 1951; Hogg. 1948; Liegeois et al., 1946; Gratzl, 1941). Normally, much phosphate is filtered through the glomeruli and partially reabsorbed from the tubules; in diffuse renal disease with chronic uremia the glomerular filtration of phosphate is reduced and the anion is retained, causing hyperphosphatemia. which in turn causes hypertrophy and hyperfunction of the parathyroids in an attempt to reinitiate phosphate diuresis, and leads to mobilization of skeletal mineral and osteodystrophy. This, no doubt, is an oversimplification of the pathogenetic scheme, but it is not possible to elaborate with much confidence; uremia is attended by a variety of metabolic disturbances and their individual contributions to uremic osteodystrophy cannot yet be assessed. Ultrafiltrates of serum from cases of uremia will not calcify rachitic cartilages in vitro while filtrates of normal serum will, a fact which suggests that in uremia there are "toxic" or metabolic defects in serum in addition to alterations of the ionic product of calcium and phosphate. Variations in the levels of calcium and phosphate in the plasma are not consistent in their direction; phosphate is usually, and perhaps always, increased to or beyond the upper range of normal, and serum calcium levels tend, by antagonism, to be lowered; frequently, however, serum calcium is in the normal range, which is probably attributable to efficient compensation by the parathyroids. The acidosis of uremia may also contribute significantly to the osteodystrophy.

The removal of mineral from bone under the influence of parathormone is performed by the osteoclasts. The rapidity with which these cells differentiate and commence activity is indicated by the increase of numbers and the beginning of resorption within 4 to 6 hours after an experimental injection of parathormone. Also of early onset is a replacement of bone marrow and resorbed bone by young connective tissue in which osteoclasts persist as giant cells for prolonged periods (Jubb and Kennedy, 1963).

Thieme (1955) reported that in 29 dogs with chronic nephritis, the adrenals were rich in lipids and there was generally a picture of adaptation to increased activity. In the pituitary gland eosinophile cells were in the majority, whereas basophile cells were present only occasionally.

Body Fluids

The most important effects of renal insufficiency on the body fluids are (1) generalized edema resulting from water retention, (2) acidosis resulting from failure of the kidneys to rid the body of normal acid products, (3) high potassium concentration resulting from failure of potassium excretion, and (4) high concentrations of the non-protein nitrogens resulting from failure of the body to excrete the metabolic end-products (which is called azotemia).

<u>Water Retention and Edema</u>. When the patient drinks water, in response to his normal desire, the body fluids begin increasing immediately and rapidly. If he takes in no electrolytes at the same time, approximately 5/8 of the water will enter the cells and 3/8 will remain in the extracellular fluids. Thus, a patient with edema in nephritis may have both intracellular and extracellular edema. On the other hand, if the patient

should ingest large amounts of salt along with the water, the edema might be only extracellular because of greatly increased amounts of osmotically active substances in the extracellular compartments.

Acidosis. Most uremic patients with renal insufficiency have acidosis. The occurrence of acid intoxication in renal insufficiency was first indicated by the finding of von Jaksch (1888) that the titrable alkalinity of the blood is diminished in uremic patients. Long after, this observation was supplemented by the demonstrations of Straub and Schlayer (1912), Peabody (1915) and others that the carbon dioxide content of the alveolar air is often abnormally low in uremia. That the actual hydrogen ion concentration of the blood may be increased in uremia was indicated by the studies of Poulton and Ryffel (1913) on the oxygen-combining curve of the blood, which showed that the blood of some uremic dogs takes up oxygen with abnormal difficulty.

Uremic acidosis results partly, but not entirely, from the inability of the kidney to excrete adequately the end-products of metabolism, which are usually predominantly acid. Straub (1921) pointed out that when renal insufficiency is present the reaction of the organism is dependent on the ingested food, for if the patient with insufficient kidneys eats food with acid end-products he becomes acidotic, while if the catabolic products are alkaline, alkalosis results.

In recent years, there has been extensive study of the distrubances in acid-base equilibrium resulting from renal insufficiency, which has revealed that uremic acidosis is of complicated pathogenesis, as yet by no means completely elucidated. It has become clear that both decreased glomerular filtration and impaired tubular function are concerned in the

production of uremic acidosis. The inadequate glomerular filtration results in the retention of the predominantly acid intermediary and end-products of protein catabolism, including both inorganic anions and organic acids. On the other hand, the impairment of tubular function causes loss of fixed base because of inability to excrete a urine of acidity as high as normal and deficient ammonia formation.

Marriott and Howland (1916) believed that phosphate retention is a very important factor in the production of uremic acidosis, for about ninety percent of the phosphate in an average urine is acid phosphate. Schmitz, Rohdenburgh and Meyers (1926), as well as Fetters (1923), observed that in all instances of renal insufficiency in which the inorganic phosphate of the blood is increased the carbon dioxide combining power of the blood is lowered, that is to say, there is acidosis. But in other cases they noted acidosis in the absence of phosphate retention, showing that the latter is not the only cause of the acidosis of renal insufficiency. In fact, the investigations of Peters and his co-workers show that phosphate retention is quantitatively a minor factor in the production of uremic acidosis. Marrack (1923) also found that retention of other anions play a larger part in causing the acidosis than does phosphate. One of these has been shown by Loeb and Benedict (1927) to be sulphate. In some instances there is also increase in the concentration of chloride ions, but much more often, particularly when there is vomiting, chloride is decreased in the blood and therefore militates against acidosis.

The significance of retention of organic acids in the blood has been extremely investigated and debated. Straub (1924) calculated that the quantity of known acids retained does not suffice to account for the acidosis

and advanced the opinion that considerable amounts of unknown acids must be held back, which he surmised to be products of intermediary protein metabolism. However, Hartmann and Darrow (1928) believed that they are able to account for practically all the anions present as known substances. The careful studies of Briggs (1932) are in accord with this view. Other investigations, on the contrary, indicate strongly that retention of organic acids is sometimes actually of importance in the genesis of uremic acidosis. Thus, Peters and his co-workers bring evidence that in the terminal stages of uremia ketonic acids may accumulate in the blood. Becher, Enger and Herrmann (1932) found that in renal insufficiency there is accumulation of ether-soluble organic acids in the blood.

It seems plausible that the nature of the retained substances participating in the genesis of renal acidosis varies in the different stages of renal insufficiency. According to this conception, the role of the organic acids would become significant only in the terminal stages when there is "toxic" acceleration in the breakdown of body protein with the result that high concentrations of intermediary products of protein catabolism are liberated and retained because of the renal failure.

In renal insufficiency the kidney is unable to form a urine of hydrogen ion concentration as high as in health. The beautiful experiments of Pitts, et al., (1948, 1950, 1945) have shown that a large part of the acidity of the urine is due to formation by tubular cells of hydrogen ions (perhaps through hydration of carbon dioxide to carbonic acid by carbonic anhydrase), which are then exchanged for ions of sodium and other fixed base in the tubular fluid. When tubular function is impaired, the liberation of hydrogen ions is decreased with resultant diminution in the acidity of the urine and

loss of the ions of fixed base which would otherwise have been exchanged for the hydrogen ions. The consequence is depletion of the fixed base of the blood.

With impairment of tubular function, ammonium ions can not be produced in as great amount as in health. Gamble and his associates showed that while a healthy subject increases his urinary ammonia output in response to administration of an acid-producing salt, an experimental dog with renal insufficiency does not do so. The result is sacrifice of an equivalent amount of fixed base, which tends to deplete the blood alkali and favors acidosis.

The relative importance of decreased glomerular filtration with its entailed retention of anions and tubular insufficiency with consequent cation waste doubtless varies in different forms and stages of renal disease.

In some cases the acidosis thus produced is compensated by hyperventilation and other mechanisms, so that the hydrogen ion concentration of the blood remains normal despite the hypocapnia. But in other instances compensation is incomplete and the hydrogen ion concentration of the blood rises; in such cases the pH of the blood has been observed to be as low as 7.04 (Peabody, 1915; Schmitz, Rohdenburgh and Myers, 1926).

Vomiting with resultant loss of hydrochloric acid often combats uremic acidosis to a greater or less extent. In fact, on some occasions enough acid may thus be lost to produce an actual alkalosis. Harrison and Perlzweig (1925) published a paper on investigation, seemingly of this variety, in which the pH of the blood rose to 7.6. That this does not occur more frequently is apparently due to the fact, observed by Peters and his collaborators, that the vomitus in uremia often contains little free hydrochloric acid.

Uremic acidosis may be of the utmost severity when the carbon dioxide combining power of the blood is sinking as low as ten volume percent. Chace and Myers (1920) considered that the acidosis may be severe enough to be the immediate cause of death.

Elevated Potassium Concentration. The degree to which the potassium concentration increases depends principally on the rate of protein metabolism after nephritis has occurred, The breakdown of the cellular proteins releases potassium from combination with the proteins, and the extra potassium then passes into the extracellular fluid. Obviously, failure of the kidney to excrete the potassium as it is released will cause an elevated potassium concentration in the extracellular fluid when the potassium concentration rises to 10 m. eq./1. it is likely to stop the heart in diastole.

Increase in Non-protein Nitrogens (azotemia) Following Nephritis.

The non-protein nitrogens include urea, uric acid, creatinine, and a few less important compounds. These, in general, are the end-products of protein metabolism and must be removed from the body continually to insure continued protein metabolism in the cell but in nephritis they are retained in the body fluids.

Special Senses

The eyes have an anxious appearance and their conjunctiva are congested due to severe venous congestion with high venous pressure (Canine Medicine, 1962). Retinitis may be present which is correlated with hypertension and not due to renal insufficiency (Fishberg, 1954).

SUMMARY

In general, diseases of the kidney can be classified into three distinct categories, namely, degenerative (nephrosis), inflammatory (nephritis) and vascular (arteriosclerotic). The most common renal inflammatory disease in man is glomerulonephritis, while interstitial nephritis is of minor significance. In the dog, interstitial nephritis is of paramount importance, while glomerulonephritis is of little account. A perusal of the literature, both medical and veterinary, indicates that bright's disease has been well studied, while interstitial nephritis, with few exceptions, has been only superficially examined. Nephritis is the most important and frequent among the affections observed in the urinary tract of the canine species. The importance of this condition lies in its frequent occurrence and its deleterious consequences on the other body systems of the dog.

The principal renal inflammatory disease of the dog is interstitial nephritis which may be acute, subacute or chronic. Interstitial nephritis was first described by Davis. Most old dogs show some kidney damage in the normal course of living. The following organisms have been found associated with nephritis: E. coli, Proteus vulgaris, streptococci, pseudomonas, Aerobacter aerogenes.

The most common type of renal failure and uremia results from chronic renal disease. It causes depletion of plasma potassium with resultant weakness and paresis of skeletal muscles. Muscular twitching and far less usually, convulsions are thought to be caused by a decrease in the ionized calcium of blood due to renal retention of phosphate. The tendency towards depression of ionized calcium acts as a stimulus for parathyroid hyperplasia,

which is manifested functionally and structurally. Functionally it results in decalcification which leads to the disease entity known as renal osteodystrophy (rubber jaw), which is primarily a nephritic condition with bone lesions, particularly of the skull, appearing later. If this condition occurs in young individuals before full growth is reached, it is called renal rickets, or renal dwarfism. The parathyroid hyperplasia, together with the acidosis, which often is associated with the kidney dysfunction, will cause osteomalacia by mobilization of calcium and phosphorus from the skeleton in an effort to maintain a normal serum calcium, with formation of soft, rubbery bone.

In the dog, the clinical signs of bone resorption are confined to the jaws and the head, and thus the term "rubber jaw" is often ascribed to this disease by clinicians. Actually, there is generalized osteoporosis of all the long bones on histopathological examination.

Primary hyperparathyroidism is more of theoretical than of practical interest to the veterinary pathologist. It may arise as a result of adenomatous or carcinomatous change in the gland. Secondary hyperparathyroidism is, however, rather common, especially in dogs, as a result of renal insufficiency; a few such cases are complicated by osteodystrophy of obvious degree, and a larger number have lesser degrees of change in the bones. That sustained increments of the level of serum phosphate can cause hyperplasia (and hyperfunction) of the parathyroids is accepted as the principal metabolic defect in this system in renal failure.

When the accomplishment of the kidneys falls behind the needs of the organism, potential urinary constituents accumulate in the blood. Among the potential urinary constituents are nitrogenous end-products of protein

catabolism which have no significant extrarenal avenue of elimination.

The result is rise in the non-protein nitrogen of the blood. The retained urinary constituents may cause secondary changes in the chemical composition of the blood. Thus phosphate retention tends to lower the calcium content of the blood. The retention of fixed acid depresses the blood bicarbonate. This uremic acidosis results partly, but not entirely, from the inability of the kidney to excrete adequately the end-products of metabolism, which are usually predominantly acid.

The association of anemia with renal diseases has long been recognized and various causes for the anemia have been suggested. Among them defective blood formation has been considered to be an important factor in the production of anemia. There is a direct parallel between the severity of anemia and nitrogen retention. The anemia observed in nephritis is usually normocytic, normochromic, but may at times be microcytic and hypochromic.

Generally, in wremia caused by nephritis, the heart is subjected to various adverse influences. When wremia supervenes in chronic renal disease, hypertension and left ventricular hypertrophy usually are already present and show the strain to which the left ventricle is subjected, In acute renal disease, hypertension and wremia may evolve concomitantly, or either may precede the other. Effects of acute and chronic nephritis upon the structure of the cardiovascular system are of two main types: (1) those due to hypertension, seen only in dogs with chronic nephritis; (2) necrotizing lesions in the heart and great vessel, mainly in dogs with acute nephritis and scars at these same sites in dogs with chronic nephritis.

Blood pressure is also raised in chronic nephritis in dogs.

Paroxysmal dyspnea (cardiac-asthma) may occur as a result of hypertension present in uremia. Nephritis may also result in pulmonary edema, catarrhal purulent bronchitis and interstitial thickening.

In chronic interstitial nephritis in dogs, squamous, crusted dermatoses may develop bilaterally and symmetrically in the back region. In these cases there is a partial loss of hair; the skin itself is dry, thickened, and forms large folds.

Anorexia, nausea and vomiting are common in uremia and occasionally constitute the first symptoms of renal disease. Although constipation is more common, diarrhea often bloody, tends to appear in the later stages of renal failure. The cause of the gastrointestinal disorders is not clear.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The author wishes to express his sincere gratitude to Dr. Jacob E. Mosier, Professor and Head, Department of Surgery and Medicine, Kansas State University, for his guidance, encouragement and timely suggestions offered in preparation of this report.

Acknowledgment is extended to Dr. Russel A. Frey, Instructor, Department of Physiology, Kansas State University, for his courteous help at all times.

Thanks are also given to other members of the teaching staff, who have been helpful in instruction during the year.

REFERENCES

- Aetius of Amida.
 Six books on medicine. 1534. Quoted by Major (1949).
- Alexeieff, G.
 Lamoella osseuse des Brightiques. Contribution sur l'etude de l'hematopoiese, et definition de l'azote non proteique dans la moelle osseuse des Brightiques. Sang, 11:972-995, 1937.
- Allen, A. C.
 The kidney. Grune and Stratton. New York, 1962.
- Andes, J. E., C. R. Linegar, and B. A. Myers.
 Guanidine like substances in the blood. II. Blood guanidine in nitrogen retention and hypertension. J. Lab. and Clin. Med., 22:1209, 1937.
- Arinkin, M. I.

 Die intravitale untersu chungsmethodik des knockenmarks.
 Folia Haemat., 38:233-240, 1929.
- Ashe, B.

 The hemoglobin percentage and the red blood cell count in Bright's disease, myocardial insufficiency and hypertension.

 Arch. Int. Med., 44:506-530, 1929.
- Aubertin, C., and J. Yacoel.

 Sur l'anemie dans la nephrite azotemique. Bull. et Mem. Soc. Med.

 d. Hop. de Paris., 48:870-875, 1924.
- Avicenna.

 Liber canonis. Venice. Guiunta, p. 359. Quoted by Major (1949).
- Bannick, E. G.
 Lipoid nephrosis and its relation to glomerular nephritis.
 J. A. M. A., 102:172-178, 1934.
- Bass and Singer. J. A. M. A., 144:819, 1950.
- Bass, Greenberg. Singer and Miller. J. A. M. A., 148:724, 1952.
- Becher, E.
 Ueber das vorkommen von aromatischen oxysauren and phenolen im
 enteviwissten blut and uber die bedeutung derselben bei echter
 uramie. Deut. Arch. F. Klin. Med. CXLV. Cited by Bloom (1939).
- Becher, E.
 Pathogenese symptomatologie und therapie der uramie. Ergebn. Ges. Med., 18:51, 1933.

- Becher, Enger and Herrmann. Klin. Wehnschrft, 11:891, 1932.
- Bellet, S., P. C. Gazes and W. A. Steiger.

 The effect of potassium on the electrocardiogram in the normal dog and in dogs with myocardial infection. Am. J. Med. Sci., 220:237, 1950.
- Bellini, L.

 De urinis et pulsibus de missione sanguinis, de febribus,
 de morbis captis et pectoris. Bologna (ex. typ. A. Pissarrij).
 Quoted by Smith, H. W. (1959).
- Bereston, E. D., and H. Keil.

 Membranous stomatitis associated with debilitation and uremia.

 Arch. Dermat. and Syph. 44:562, 1941.
- Best, C. H., and N. B. Taylor.

 Physiological basis of medical practice. 2nd ed. William Wood and Co., Faltimore. 1963
- Bingold, K.

 Die niere als blutzerstorendes organ. Klin. Wchnschr., 12:1201-1206, 1933.
- Birch, G., and T. Winsor.

 A primer of electrocardiography. Lea and Febiger, Philadelphia, 1946.
- Bloom, F.

 The laboratory diagnosis of interstitial nephritis in the dog.

 Part II. N. Am. Vet., 38:216, 1957.
- Bloom, F. Classification and pathology of renal disease in the dog. Comparison with nephritis in man. Arch. Path., 28:236, 1939.
- Bloom, F.

 The urine of the dog and cat. New York. Gamma Public. Inc., 1960.
- Bloom, F.

 A clinical pathological study of nephritis in dogs.

 J. A. V. M. A., 91:679, 1937.
- Pathology of the dog and cat. The genitourinary system, with clinical considerations. American Veterinary Publications, Inc. Evanston, Illinois. 1954.
- Boehaave. Quoted by Major, R. H. (1949).

- Bollmann, J. L. and F. C. Mann.
 Nitrogenous constituents of blood following transplantation
 of ureters into different levels of intestine.
 Proc. Soc. Exper. Biol. and Med., 24:923, 1927.
- Ricerche ematologiche nelle, nephropatie del cane (L anemia nefritica) Nuova Vet., 35:53-64, 1959. (Vet. Bull. 1959, Abst. 3948.)
- Boyd, W.

 The pathology of internal diseases. 4th ed. Philadelphia:
 Lea and Febiger, 1944, 857 pp.
- Briggs, A. P.
 Acidosis of nephritis: Its clinical significance.
 Arch. Int. Med., 49:56, 1932.
- Bright, R.

 Cases and observations of renal disease accompanied with the secretion of albuminous urine. Guy's Hosp. Rep. 1:338, 1836. Quoted by de Wardener (1958).
- Erodey, R. S.

 Renal osteitis fibrosa cystica in a wire haired fox terrier.

 J. A. V. M. A., 124:275, 1954.
- Brodey, R. S., W. Medway, and R. R. Marshak.

 Renal osteodystrophy in the dog. J. Am. Vet. Med. Assn. 139:329,
 1961.
- Brown, G. E., and G. M. Roth.

 The anemia of chronic nephritis. Arch. Int. Med., 30:817-840, 1922.
- Brown, C. L., and I. W. Gainesburgh.

 Renal hyperparathyroidism. Metabolic studies in an adult with severe renal insufficiency, extensive demineralisation of bone and pathological calcification of arteries.

 J. Clin. Invest. 18:480, 1939.
- Brown, C. L., and I. W. Ginsbury.
 Osteoporosis associated with extensive metastatic calcification and chronic renal disease. Arch. Path., 30:108, 1940.
- Brumley, O. V.
 Diseases of the small domestic animals, 1931, 370, pp.
- Euchmann, P., and R. Stodtmeister.

 Toxische knochenmarksschadigungen bei chronischer nephritis.

 Deutsche Arch. Klin. Med., 190:487-497, 1943.

- Callen, I. R., and L. R. Limarji.

 Blood and bone marrow studies in renal disease.

 Am. J. Clin. Path., 20:3, 1950.
- Castle, W. B., and G. R. Minot.

 Pathological physiology and clinical description of the anemias.

 New York: Oxford University Press, 1936, 205, pp.
- Castleman, B., and T. B. Mallory.

 Parathyroid hyperplasia in chronic renal insufficiency.

 Am. J. Path., 13:553, 1937.
- Ceconi, A.

 Le resistanze globulari nelle nefrite.

 Clin. Med. Ital., 44:14-24, 1905.
- Chace and Myers. J. A. M. A., 74:641, 1920.
- Chambers, F. Specific nephritis. Vet. Rec., 8:413, 1928.
- Christison, R.

 Observations on the variety of dropsy which depends on diseased kidneys. Edinburgh M. S. J. 32:262, 1829.
- Chrug, J., and D. Lehr.

 Cardiovascular and smooth muscle lesions in the course of experimental nephropathy. Am. J. Path., 30:638, 1954.
- Coffin, D. L.

 Manual of veterinary clinical pathology. 3rd. ed. Comstock Publishing
 Co., Ithaca, N. Y., 1953.
- Coles, E. H., and J. E. Mosier.

 Effect of nitrofurantoin on experimental canine bacterial nephritis, Am. J. Vet. Res., 20:1020, 1959.
- Custer, R. P.

 The bone marrow: in R. R. Kracke, Diseases of the blood and Atlas of Hematology, Philadelphia: J. B. Lippincott Co., 1941, pp. 500-521.
- Dameshek, W.

 Biopsy of sternal bone marrow, its value in the study of diseases of blood forming organs. Am. J. M. Sc., 190:617-640, 1935.
- Dammrich, K.

 Patholgoish anatomische und histologische untersuchungen an
 Knochen, Nieren and Epithelkorperchen von Hunden mit Nierenerkrankungen.
 Zbl. Vet. Med., 5:742, 1958. (Vet. Bull. 1959, Abst. 1541.)

Davis, G. O.
Osteodystrophia fibrosa (osteofibrosis) in domesticated animals.
Vet. Rec. 48, 1399, 1936.

Davis, V.

Die histologischen veranderungen bei der nephritis des hundes.

Dissert. Berne. E. Hess. 1908. Cited by Bloom (1939).

Dayton, H.

Reliability of dogs as subjects for experimental nephritis.

J. Med. Res. 31:177, 1914.

Dekkers, F.

Exercitationes practical circa medendi methodum.

Leyden, Bontesteyn. p. 338, 1695. Quoted by Major (1949).

Dewardener, H. F.
The kidney. Boston: Little Brown and Co., 1958.

Deweerdt, W.

Recherches hematologiques sur la hopsie medullaire. II. Aspects
de la moelle osseuse dans les hemopathies.

Rev. Belge Sc. Med., 11:297-325; 337-414; 440-466, 1939.

Dewesselow. Lancet, 1:1099, 1924.

Dukes, H. H.

Physiology of domestic animals. 7th ed. Comstock Publishing Co. Inc.,
Ithaca, N. Y., 1955.

Faarup, C., and A. S. Chlsen.

Knochemarksuntersuchungen bei nephrogenen anamien.

Nord. Med. (Hospitalstid.), 11:2680-2686, 1941.

Falzoi, M.

Contributo alla conoscenza degli stati anemici nella arrosi epatica
atrofica e nelle nefropatie cronicha con particulose reguardo ai lona
eventuli reporti con la retenzione organica delli sostanger aromatiche.
Gior. Di Clin. Med., 20:1-24, 1939.

Featherston, R. H.

The comparative efficiency of some of the commonly used urinary antibacterial agents in the treatment of experimental canine bacterial nephritis. M. S. Thesis, Kansas State University, Manhattan, Kansas, 1958.

Fetter.
Arch. Int. Med., 31:413, 1923.

- Fieschi, A.

 Senieiologia del middollo osseo: Studio di Morfologia Clinica.

 In Ferrata, A: Biblioteca "Haematologica," Vol. 6, Pavia:

 Tipographia Gia Cooperativea, 1938.
- Filo, E.

 Ueber blutbildveranderungen bei akniten glormerulonephritiden.

 Folia Haemat., 57:39-51, 1937
- Fishberg, A. M.

 Hypertension and nephritis. 5th ed. Philadelphia: Lea and Febiger, 1954.
- Foster, N. B.
 Isolation of a toxic substance from the blood of uremic patients.
 Tr. A. Am. Physicians, 30:305, 1915.
- Fouts, P. J., A. C. Corcoran and I. H. Page.

 Observations on the clinical and functional course of nephrotoxic nephritis in dogs. Am. J. Med. Sci. 201:313, 1941.
- Fowler, W. M. Hematology. 2nd. ed. New York: Paul B. Hoeber, Inc., 1949, 535 pp.
- Frischbier.

 Of pathogenesis of acute diffuse glomerulonephritis in domestic animals. Tierarztl. Unschau. 121, 1947. Biol. Abstr. 23:16152 (1949).
- Giacchero, R., and G. Belletti.

 Sulle anemie dei nefropatici. Arch. Per. Le. Sc. Med., Tor., 71: 179-211, 1941.
- Gingold, N., G. Comsa, and A. Roman-Crivat.: Anemie pseudo-regenerative comme syndrome terminal chez un azotemique chronique. Sang., 12:543-549, 1938.
- Goldblatt, H., J. Lynch, R. F. Hanzal, and W. W. Summerville. J. Exp. Med. lix, 347, 1934.
- Goldblatt, H., J. Gross and R. F. Hanzal. J. Exp. Med. lxv, 233, 1937.
- Goldblatt, H.
 The Harvey lectures, XXXiii, 237, 1937.
- Goldblatt, H.
 Ann. Int. Med., xi, 69, 1938.
- Goldblatt, H.
 J. Exp. Med., lxvii, 809, 1938.
- Goldblatt, H.
 In experimental hypertension, Spec. Publ. New York Acad. Sci. No. III.

- Gottsegen, G.

 Das weisse blutbild bei uramie klin. Wchnschr., 16:275-277, 1937.
- Gratzl, E.
 Osteorenales syndrome beim hund. Wien Tierarztl.
 Mschr. 28, 225-234. Vet. Bull. 1942, pp. 502.
- Grignani, R.

 Il ricambio emoglobinico nei nefritica contributo allo studio della pathogenisi dell'anemia dei nefritica.

 Arch. Pat. E. Clin. Med., 1:48-58, 1921.
- Griva, L., and C. Asinelli.

 Le anemie nefritsche. Arch. Per Le Sc. Med., 56:763-803, 1932.
- Grollman, E. F., and A. Grollman.

 Toxicity of urea and its role in pathogenesis of uremia.

 J. Clin. Invest. 38:749, 1959.
- Guyton, A. C.

 Text book of medical physiology. 2nd ed., W. B. Saunders Company.

 Philadelphia and London. 1964.
- Haden, R. L. Principles of hematology. 3rd ed. Philadelphia: Lea and Febiger, 1946, 366 pp.
- Haines, H. M.
 Clinical reports. Coliform nephritis in the dog.
 Vet. Med. 40:319, 1945.
- Hamelin, A.
 Contribution a l'etude de l'anemie uremique. Paris, 1904,
 Cited by Brown and Roth.
- Harrison, T. R., and M. F. Mason.
 The pathogenesis of the uremic syndrome.
 Med. 16:1, 1937.
- Harrison, T. R., and M. F. Mason, and H. Resnik.

 Observations on the mechanism of muscular twitchings in uremia.

 J. Clin. Invest. 15:463, 1936.
- Harrison and Perlzweig.
 J. A. M. A., 84:671, 1925.
- Hartmann and Darrow.
 J. Clin. Invest., 6:517, 1928.
- Hartman, F. W., A. Bolliger and H. P. Doub. Functional studies throughout the course of roentgen ray nephritis in dogs. J. A. M. A. 88:139, 1927.

- Henle. Quoted by Major (1949).
- Hippocrates. Quoted by Major (1949).
- Hoare, E. W. Chronic nephritis in the dog. Vet. J. lxvi, p. 541.
- Hoare, E. W.
 A system of veterinary medicine, Vol. II. Chicago: Alex. Eger, 1911.
- Hogg, A. H.
 Osteodystrophic disease in the dog, with special reference to rubber jaw (Renal osteodystrophy) and its comparison with renal rickets in the human. Vet. Rec. 60, 117-122, 1948.
- Holler, G. System der ananie. Ztschr. F. Klin. Med., 103:1-85, 1926.
- Holman, R. L. Am. J. Path. xvii, 359, 1941.
- Holman, R. L. Am. J. Path. xix, 147, 159, 977, 993, 1943.
- Holman, R. L. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. and Med., 1xvi, 307, 1947.
- Holman, R. L., and W. C. Hewitt.

 Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. and Med., xlix, 58, 1942.
- Holman, and Swanton.

 Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. and Med., lxiii, 87, 1946.
- Howard, T. L.
 Renal rickets or renal dwarfism. Am. J. Surg. 40, 323, 1938.
- Hunter, W.

 An investigation into the pathology of permicious anemia.

 Lencet, 2:605-611, 1888.
- Hutyra, F., and J. Marek.

 Pathology and therapeutics of the diseases of domestic animals, 3:24.
- Institute of Pathology (London) Vet. Med. 35:63, 1940.
- Isaacs, R.

 The bone marrow in anemia: Red blood cells.

 Am. J. M. Sc., 193:181-191, 1937.
- Jaffe, R. H., and D. R. Laing.
 Changes of the digestive tract in uremia.
 Arch. Int. Med. 53:851, 1934.

- Jakob, H.

 Innere krankheiten des hundes. Stuttgart: F. Enke, 1924
 Cited by Bloom (1939).
- Joest, E. Spezielle pathologische anatomie der haustiere. (R. Schoetz, Berlin). Vol. III, 1924. Quoted by Bloom (1939).
- Jubb, K. V. F., and P. C. Kennedy.
 Pathology of domestic animals. Vol. I. New York Academic. 1963.
- Kienle, F.

 Uber knochenmarksfunktion im lichte der sternalpunktion.

 Zentralbl. F. Inn. Med., 63:33-46; 49-57; 65-80, 1942.
- Kienle, F.
 Die sternalpunktion in der diagnostik.
 Leipzig: Thieme, 1943.
- Kirk, H.
 Index of treatment. Baltimore: William and Wilkins Co., 1948.
- Kracke, R. R.
 Diseases of the blood and Atlas of Hematology, 2nd ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott, 1941, 712 pp.
- Kral, F. Compendium of veterinary dermatology, 1961.
- Kretzschmar, C.
 Chronische nephritis und beim honde.
 Tierarztl. Umsch 11, 12-16, Vet. Bull. 1956, Abstr. 3900.
- Laninger, S.

 Die erythropoese bei azotamischen anamien.
 Folia Haemat., 59:222-231, 1933.
- Lannek, N.
 Clinical and experimental study of the electrocardiogram of the dog. Royal Vet. Inst. Stockholm, Sweden, 1949.
- Leitner, S. J.

 Die intravitale knochenmarksuntersuchung.
 Benno Schwabe and Co. Verlag, Basel, 1945.
- Leonard, E. P., G. G. Richard and K. Mn Entee
 The urogenital system. Canine Medicine, 1962. Evanston:
 American Veterinary Publication.
- Lieber, S. C., and A. Lefevre.

 Ammonia as a source of gastric hypoacidity in patients with uremia.

 J. Clin. Invest., 38:1271, 1959.

Liegeois, F., and J. Derivaux.

Variations des elements due metabolisme phospho-calcique an cours de l'uremie d'origine renale chez. le. chien.

C. R. Soc. Biol. Paris. 140, 553-556. Bet. Bull., 1948, Abstr. 1208.

Loeb and Benedict.
J. Clin. Invest., 4:33, 1927.

Loeper, M., and P. Perreau. L'anemie Brightique. Sang, 13:114-130, 1939.

Loge, J. P., R. D. Lange, and C. V. Moore.
Characterization of the anemia in the chronic renal insufficiency.
J. Clin. Invest., 29:830, 1950.

MacArthur, P.
Anemia in nephritis. Arch. Dis. Child., 17:1-22, 1942.

Magner, W.

A textbook of hematology. Philadelphia: P. Blakiston's Son and Co., Inc. 1938, 395 pp.

Marchand, J. F., and C. A. Finch.

Fatal spontaneous potassium intoxication in patients with uremia.

Arch. Int. Med. 73:384, 1943.

Marrack.
Biochem. J., 17:240, 1923.

Marriott and Howland.
Arch. Int. Med., 18:708, 1916.

Mason, M. F., H. Resnik, Jr., A. S. Minot, J. Raney, C. Pilcher and T. R. Harrison.

Mechanism of experimental uremia. Arch. Int. Med. 60:312, 1937.

Mason, E. E.

Gastrointestinal lesions occurring in uremia.

Ann. Int. Med., 37:96, 1952.

McCormick, J. H., and R. L. Holman.

Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. and Med., lxxii, 75, 1949.

McNider, Wm. de B.

A pathological study of the naturally acquired nephropathy of the dog.

Jour. Med. Res., 34:177, 1916.

McFadeyan, Sir John.
Nephritis in animals. J. Comp. Path. 42:58, 1929.

- Michelazzi and S. De-Renzi.

 Alterazioni del sangue midollare e periferico nella nefrite cronica.

 Folia Med., 23:1097-1115, 1937.
- Milks, F. J.

 The uremic complex. Cornell Vet. 34:87, 1944.
- Mitchell, A. G.
 Nephrosclerosis (Ch. Int. Nephritis) in childhood with special reference to renal rickets. Am. J. Child. 40, 345, 1930.
- Mosier, J. E., and E. H. Coles.
 Urinary tract infections of small animals. Vet. Med. 53:649, 1958.
- Muirhead, E. E., J. Vanatta, and A Grollman. Arch, Path., xlviii, 234, 1949.
- Muller, G., and A. Glass.
 Diseases of the dog. 1926, p. 276.
- Muller, G., and A. Glass.

 Diseases of the dog and their treatment, 4th ed. Chicago:
 Alex. Eger. 1923.
- Murphy, F. D., J. Grill and C. F. Moxon. Acute diffuse glomerular nephritis. Arch. Int. Med., 54:483-508, 1934.
- Myerson, M. C.

 Manifestation of uremia in pharynx, larynx, trachea and bronchi.

 J. A. M. A., 89:685, 1927.
- Newburgh, L. H., and A. A. Camara.

 Lack of correlation between symptoms and degree of renal impairment.

 Ann. Int. Med. 35:39, 1951.
- Nieberle, K., and P. Cohrs.

 Lehrbuch der speziellen pathologischen anatomie der haustiere.

 Pathologischen Anatomie der Haustiere. Jena: Gustav. Fischer, 1931.

 Cited by Bloom (1939).
- Nieberle, K., and P. Cohrs.
 Lebrbuch der speciellen pathologischen anatomie der haustiere.
 3rd ed. Gustav. Fischer, Jena, Germany, 1949.
- Nielsen, S. W., and B. J. McSherry.

 Renal hyperparathyroidism (rubber jaw syndrome) in a dog.

 J. Am. Vet. Med. Assn., 124:270-274, 1954.
- Nordenson, N. S.

 The bone marrow in chronic nephritis. Folia Hemat., 59:1-16, 1938.

- Nylander, G.

 Beitrage zur kenntnis der anamie bei den diffusen nierener krankungen.

 Acta. Med. Scandinav., 10:1-165, 1935.
- Ophuls, W.

 Some interesting points in regard to experimental chronic nephritis.

 Jour. Med. Res., 18:497, 1908.
- Olafson, P. Quoted by Bloom (1939).
- Palliola, E., and F. Guarda.

 Contributo allo studio delle correlazioni fra lesioni entercepatorenalinel cane. Ricerche Istologische ed Istochimiche.

 Ann. Fac. Med. Vet. Torino, 7:217, 1957. Vet. Bull. 1958, Abstr. 3609.
- Pappenheimer, A. M., and S. L. Wilens.

 Enlargement of parathyroid glands in renal diseases.

 Am. J. Path., 11:73, 1935.
- Parsons, L., and M. Ekolastrolberg.

 Anemia in azotemia. Am. J. Med. Sc., 185:181-190, 1933.
- Paul of Aegina.
 Hardness of the kidneys. Quoted by Major (1949).
- Peabody.

 Arch. Int. Med., 16:955, 1915.
- Piney, A.

 Diseases of the blood. 2nd ed. Philadelphia: P. Blackiston's Son and Co., Inc., 1932, p. 310.
- Pitts and Alexander.
 Am. J. Physiol., 144:239, 1945.
- Pitts, Lotspeich, Schiess and Ayer. J. Clin. Invest., 27:48, 1948.
- Pitts.
 Am. J. Med., 9:356, 1950.
- Platt, H.

 Chronic canine nephritis. II. A study of the parathyroid glands with particular reference to the "rubber jaw" syndrome. III. Skeletal system in "rubber jaw." J. Comp. Path., 61:188-196, and 197-214, 1951.
- Platt, H.

 Morphological changes in the cardiovascular system associated with nephritis in dogs. J. Path. Bact. 64:539-549, 1952.

- Poulton and Ryffel.
 J. Physiol. 46, 1913, Proceedings, xlviii.
- Quinke, H.

 Zur pathologie des blutes. Deutsche Arch. Klin. Med., 25:567-585, 1880.
- Rhazes.

 Liber nonus und almansopem cum expositione. Joanne's Arculani,
 Padua: Petrus Maufer, 1480. Quoted by Major (1949).
- Rohr, K.

 Das menschliche knochenmark. Leipzig: Thieme, 1940.
- Rohr, K., and E. Hafter. Untersuchungen uber postmortale veranderungen des menschlichen knochenmarks. Folia Hemat., 58:38-50, 1937.
- Rollag, O.

 Nephritis due to E. coli infection. Vet. Med. 42:427, 1947.
- Rouhier and Plauchu.

 Arch. Med. Chir. De L'app. Respir., 9:189, 1934.
- Rufus.

 Ocavres D'oribase Traduit Bussemaker et Ch. Daremberg, Paris:

 Imprimerie. Quoted by Major (1949).
- Runnels, R. A.
 Animal Pathology. 5th ed. Ames: Iowa State College Press.
- Saunders, C. G.
 Canine Medicine and Surgery. Am. J. Vet. Med. 1915.
- Scarlett, E. P.
 The significance of high grade anemia in chronic nephritis.
 Am. J. M. Sc., 178:215-222, 1929.
- Schiefer, B.
 Untersuchungen uber das problem der uramischen pneumonie beim hund ber. Munch. Tieraztl. Wschr. 73:384. Vet. Bull. 1961, Abstr. 1927.
- Schilling, V.

 The blood picture. 8th ed. St. Louis: C. V. Mosby Co., 1929, 408 pp.
- Schindelka.
 Quoted by Bloom (1939).
- Schmitz, Rohdenburgh and Meyers. Arch. Int. Med. 37:233, 1926.

- Scott, R. B.
 Sternal puncture in the diagnosis of diseases of the blood forming organs. Quar. J. Med., 8:127-172, 1939.
- Smith, H. A., and T. C. Jones. Veterinary pathology. Philadelphia: Lea and Febiger, 1954.
- Smith, H. W.

 Principles of renal physiology. New York: Oxford University
 Press, 1956.
- Smith, H. W.

 Note on the interpretation of clearance methods in the diseased kidney. J. Clin. Invest. 20:631, 1941.
- Smith, F. W.

 The kidney structure and function in health and disease.

 New York: Oxford University Press, 1955.
- Smith, H. W., N. Finkeletoin, L. Aliminosa, B. Crawford and M. Graber.
 The renal clearance of substituted hippuric acid and derivatives
 and other aromatic acids in dog and man. J. Clin. Invest. 24:388, 1945.
- Smith, K. W. Some clinical aspects of canine nephritis. Vet. Med. 50:21, 1955.
- Soave, G. A. Clinical electrocardiograms of the dog. Am. J. Vet. Res. 15:336, 1954.
- Sodeman, W. A.

 Pathologic physiology: Mechanism of diseases.

 Philadelphia: Saunders, 1963.
- Sporri, H., and W. Leemann.

 Das verhalten des blutdruckes bei hunden mit chronischinterstitieller nephritis. Zbl. Vet. Med. 8, 523, 1961. Vet. Bull. 1962, Abstr. 229.
- Steel, J. D.
 Some diseases of the urinary tract in dogs. Aust. Vet. J. 28:76, 1952.
- Straub and Schlayer.

 Muench, Med. Wchnschrft., 59:569, 1912.
- Straub

 Verhandl. D. Deutsch. Gesellsch. F. Inn. Med., 33:393, 1921.
- Straub.
 Ergeb. D. Inn. Med. U. Kinderh., 25:137, 1924.

- Streicher, M. Experimental uremia uremic enteritis. Arch. Int. Med. 42:835, 1928.
- Sturgis, C. C.
 Hamatology. Springfield: Charles C. Thomas, 1948, 912 pp.
- Thaddea, S.

 Die sternalpunktion und ihre klinische verwendung.
 Ferdinand Enke Verlag. Stuttgart, 1943.
- Thieme, E.

 Hypophysen und nebennieren befunde bei chronischer nephritis hundes.

 Dtsch. Tierarztl. Wschr. 62:362, 1955. Vet. Bull. 1956, Abstr. 1386.
- Thompson, W. A. R.

 Potassium and the T wave of the electrocardiogram.

 Lancet. 1:808, 1939.
- Townsend, S. R., E. Massie, and R. H. Lyons.

 Studies on the anemias of chronic glomerulonephritis and its relationship to gastric acidity. J. Med. Sci., 194:636, 1937.
- Vogel, P., L. A. Erf, and N. Rosenthal.

 Hematological observations on bone marrow obtained by sternal puncture. Am. J. Clin. Path., 7:436-477, 498-515, 1937.
- Vaughan, J. M.

 The anemias. 2nd. ed. London: Oxford University Press, 1936, 309 pp.
- Von Jaksch.
 Ztschrft. F. Klin. Med., 13:350, 1888.
- Warren, R. G. Chronic uremia in dogs. Am. Vet. Med. Assn., 134:276, 1959.
- Whipple, G. H., and F. S. Robscheit-Robins.

 Nephritis and its influence upon hemoglobin production in Experimental anemia. J. Exp. Med., 69:485, 1939.
- Whitby, L. E. H., and C. J. C. Britton.
 Disorders of the blood, 5th ed. Philadelphia: Blakiston, 1946, 665 pp.
- Widal, F., P. Abrami and M. Brule.

 Anemie grave mortelle chez une Brightique Azotemique.

 Bull. Et. Mem. Soc. Med. D. Hop. de Paris, 24:1427-1439, 1907.
- William of Saliceto. Quoted by Major (1949).

- Winkler, A. W., H. E. Hoff, and P. K. Smith.

 Electrocardiographic changes and concentration of potassium in serum following intravenous injection of potassium chloride.

 Am. J. Physiol. 124:478, 1938.
- Winkler, A. W., H. E. Hoff and P. K. Smith.

 Intravenous magnesium sulphate in the treatment of nephritic convulsions in adults. J. Clin. Invest., 21:207, 1942.
- Wintrobe, M. M.

 Anemia: Classification and treatment on the basis of differences in the average volume and hemoglobin content of the red corpuscles.

 Arch. Int. Med., 54:256-280, 1934.
- Winternitz, M. C., and R. Katzenstein.
 Yale J. Biol. Med., xiii, 15 (1940-41)
- Winternitz, M. C., E. Mylon., L. L. Waters, and R. Katzenstein. Yale J. Biol. Med. xii, 623, (1939-40).
- Wood, J. E., and P. D. White.

 The electrocardiogram in uremia and severe chronic nephritis with nitrogen retention.

 Am. J. Med. Sci. 169:76, 1925.
- Wright, J. G.

 The diagnosis of gastric diseases in the dog and cat.

 Vet. Rec. 12:1139, 1932.
- Young, R. H., and E. E. Osgood.

 Sternal marrow aspirated during life. Cytology in Health and Diseases. Arch. Int. Med., 55:186-203, 1935.
- Zontine, W. J.

 The kidney in health and disease. J. A. V. M. A. 130:355, 1957.

THE EFFECT OF NEPHRITIS ON OTHER BODY SYSTEMS OF THE CANINE

by

BAJRANG SINGH RATHORE

B. V. Sc. and A. H., University of Rajasthan, India, 1960

AN ABSTRACT OF A MASTER'S REPORT

submitted in partial fulfillment of the

requirements for the degree

MASTER OF SCIENCE

Department of Surgery and Medicine

KANSAS STATE UNIVERSITY
Manhattan, Kansas

Nephritis is the most important and frequent among the affections observed in the urinary tract of the canine species. The importance of this condition lies in its frequent occurrence and its deleterious consequences on other body systems of the dog.

Interstitial nephritis is most common in the canine species. In acute interstitial nephritis anorexia, polydipsia and vomiting are frequently observed. Temperature elevation is moderate to brief.

In chronic interstitial nephritis the coat is rough and the animal is dehydrated. The patient voids large amounts of pale, watery urine (polyuria).

Significant degrees of chronic interstitial nephritis results in uremia which in turn exerts its deleterious effects on various other body systems of the dog.

Anorexia, nausea and vomiting are common in uremia, and occasionally constitutes the first symptoms of renal disease. The cause of gastro-intestinal disorders is not clear.

Effects of acute and chronic nephritis upon the structure of the cardiovascular system is of two main types: (1) those due to hypertension, (2) necrotising lesions in the heart and great vessels, mainly in dogs with acute nephritis, and scars at these same sites in dogs with chronic nephritis. Pericarditis occurs in the terminal stages, indicating almost invariably that the end is near.

The neurological symptoms usually range from depression, weakness, and drowsiness to a comatose state, although muscular twitchings of a fibrillary type sometimes occur.

The parathyroid hyperplasia caused by chronic nephritis, together with the acidosis, which often is associated with the kidney dysfunction, will cause osteomalacia by mobilization of calcium and phosphorus from the skeleton in an effort to maintain a normal serum calcium, with formation of soft, rubbery bone. In the dog, the clinical signs of bone resorption are confined to the jaws and head, and thus the term "rubber jaw" is often ascribed to this disease by clinicians.

Nephritis results in anemia due to intoxication of the bone marrow by the retained nitrogenous products.

Anemia caused by nephritis results in anemic anoxia. The acidosis of renal insufficiency is met by increased pulmonary ventilation in which condition excessive amounts of carbon dioxide are removed from the body by forced breathing.

The body coat is rough and dry. The dryness of the skin may be very striking in long-standing chronic interstitial nephritis; it is the cutaneous manifestation of dehydration resulting from compensatory polyuria.

That the sustained increments of the level of serum phosphate can cause hyperplasia and hyperfunction of the parathyroids is accepted as the principle metabolic defect in this system in renal failure.

The most important effects of renal insufficiency on the body fluids are (1) generalized edema resulting from water retention, (2) acidosis resulting from failure of the kidneys to rid the body of normal acid products, (3) high potassium concentration resulting from failure of potassium excretion, and (4) high concentrations of the non-protein nitrogens resulting from failure of the body to excrete the metabolic end-products.

The conjunctiva of eyes are congested due to severe venous congestion.